PADMANABHAPURAM PALACE

A TREASURE.HOUSE OF ART

By Dr. J. H. Cousins,

Art Adviser to the Government of Travancore.

A vistt to Padmanabhapuram Palace, thirty-three miles ,fro"m Trivandrum, &
mile off the main road to Cape Comorin, has within the past five years become a

fizture in the tour-programme of visitors to the State. It has also become a place of
culture-pilgrimage by family groups within the State and by groups of students from
schools and colleges. Five years ago the Palace was a name. To-day it is known
throughout the world of art ag a unique centre in which the general visitor can admige
and the curious-minded study examples of the main arts of the country (archiiecture,
sculpture, wood-carving and wall-painting) of two and more centuries ago,tn a con-
dition of fair preservation that is being bettered by renovation as near as possible to
their original state, and in their natural relationship to the uses of life rather than the
valuable but artificial condition of a museum. .

The rediscovery of the
artistic value of Padmana-
bhapuram Palace began in
1935 as the unexpected
result of a search for pos-
gible remains, of wall-
paintings on the suggestion
of Her Highness Maharani
Setu Parvati Bayi, mother
of His Highness the Maha-
raja. The search was nob
only successful beyond ex-
pectation as regards old-
time murals, but led bo
the further uncovering of NI
an intact example of Vija- (NG
yanagar granite architec-
ture and sculpture, and
later to the discloging of a
gem of wood-carving. Ib
took some time to get a
full realization of the art-
treasures contained in the
Palace: (1) the Palace
itself, & complete example
of Kerala Palace architec-
ture though with some
extraneous additions; The Entrance to Padmanabhapuram Palace, now a Temple of Art.
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(2) the Navaratri Mantapam
of the Vijayanagar period
indicating the inberaction
of South [ndian cultures in
architectnre :+(3} the same
m stone sculpture ; (4) bhe
Nerapura as an example of
exquisite wood-carving; (5)
ihe room of wall-paintings.
I+ would be difficult to
vepeab, certainly 1M pPOssl -
ble to muliiply. such a col-
lection of masterly exam- &
ples of the major arts in f
their, iptimate, associabion
with. one amother as they
wero -at their prime, Wwith
their reflections -of fthe
taste and thought of those
for whom they were
‘broughtinto existence, and
their demonstration of the
union of high idealism with
beauty of feeling and ex-
treme skill in execution.
A short and unembellished K
account bf each may be g
serviceable, especially to
those Whp find it possible

ing the Palace and not only admiring
its artistic beauties but its impressive
natural surroundings.

For some centuries (the exact num-
bar is nog fixed) the Palace was the seat
.of the Government of Travancore State.
In 1750, after conselidating the State in
all but its present exbens, Maharaja
Marthanda Varms found it expedient to
change " the seat of Government to Tri-
vandrum which was nearer the centre
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An exterior view of the Chamber of Murals, Padmanabhapuram,
to give themselves the plessure of visit- of hig kingdom. ::Occasionallly, succesd.

"ing Rulers spent short periods in the

Palace, but the impulse of regal power.
and its ornamental accompaniments:
receded from'it, and for generations’
prior to 1935 its historical and cultural
importance was forgotien, its only title :
to memory: being that of conflict within
and without the kingdom. The assump-
tion of Rulership by His Highness Sri
Chitra Thirunal in 1931 opened an era
of renewed interest in the arbistic past
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of the State and of effort to develop
conteraporary demand by the public for
indigenous productions and the meeting
of such demand by those who had a
hereditary bent or a voluntary call to
the creation of objects of art. Art
galleries arose for this purpose which
is nob only laudable in itself but essen-

tial to the highest welfare of the people-

in providing collections of works of fine
arb for the development of good taste.
Padmanabhapuram Palace came, as
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briefly hinted above, within the orbit of
the revived interest in local arts. Its
own generous proportions and its con-
gregation of typical Keralan features in
architecture, roofing, carved wooden
frontages, doors and verandas, gave.it a
right to attention on its own account as
& complex of artistic eminence.
Mantapam in Vijayanagar style

But within the Palace compound
there was discovered, under a coagula-
tion of decades of white-waghing, what

-

The famous Chamiber of Musals, hailed as - The Ajanta of Travan el

3-\
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turned out to be a mantapam in front
of a Saraswati shrine in the characteris-
tic Vijayanagar .style of monolithic
granite pillars, thickly carved with
Hindu deific figures and Pauranic inci-
dents. These were only seen in their
fullness, and with the pleasing eflect of
colonpades of sculpture topped by ela-
borately . carved capitals, after much
labour on the removal of the misguided
attentions in chunam of former guar-
dians, and the restoration of the small
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(73 feet by 20 feet on its floor) but
oxceedingly distinctive ball to its origi-
nal condition, & process still going
patiently on. No record of the age of
the mantapam has come to light, but
comparison with other similar bujldings
of the same era puts it provisionally in
the late sixteenth century. Whether i$
wag constructed as a detail of the rmain
Palace, or the latter grew around the
mantapam, is & matter of speculation as
yet; but it seems to be fairly settled

4

The Navaratri Mantapam.
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Anather view of the Navaratri

Mantapam,

that the original building of the Palace
began considerably prior bo the manta-
pam, though the sarly structure cannot
now be identified. At the instance of
Her Highness Mahavani Setu Parvati
Bayi an image of Saraswati Devi has
been installedin the long disused shrine
at which the Maharaja used . to worship
and in whose hall performances of
Bharaba Natya and indigenous drama
Wwere given to select audiences in their
season. The ingtallation of the image i
‘not for worship bub.in order to give
visibors of all faiths an idea of a Hindu
‘shrine. :

It is nob unlikely thab* a photogra-

phic survey of the architectural and
sculptural details of the charming
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building will before long be undertaken
and the results made available in repro-
ductions to those interested in remin-
ders of the artistic achievements of bhe
State,

The Chamber of Murals .

The mural room, which firgt drew
attention to the Palace, and remains
one of the most important single collec-
tions of wall-painting in India,” was
found on the top (fourth) Hoor of what
had been the private rooms of the Maha-
raje,. the top floor being his own bed-
1oém This fact, and the sancmby Whlch
it gave to the room, bappily preserved t
from the white-washers who obliteratad
many murals on the lower floors and
corrvidors. The walls of the mural room
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Sri'Krishna and the Gopis —one of the Padmanabhapuram Murais,

&E6 covered without interval by re-
markably vivid depictions of Pauranic
personalities and incidents, & notable
feature being the repetition at both
ends of the room of the figure of Sri
Padmanabhaswami in order that the
tmage of Deity should be the first thing
bo be seen by the Maharaja whichever
gide he awoke on. The wooden cot,
richly carved in black and gold, on
which His Highness slept, occupies a
position in the mural room. The room
is 33 feetlong and 16 feet wide, giving
a perimoter of painting of 98 feet.

The walls are 97 feet high. The picture
surface is. therefore, about 900 square
feet.

Opinions differ as to the date of the
paintings. Historical records are silent
on the subject. Documents contem-
porary with the paintings were probably
destroyed less than half a century ago
i gn incurious bout of clearing-up.
Others that may have been removed
from Padmanabhapuram to Trivandrum

-in or after 1750 bave not come to light.

The existence of the paintings ab
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the time of Mabharaja Marthands Varma
is assumed. The turbulent condi-

tions of most of his reign appear 40

preclude time for art-interests. The
lilkelihood of & future transfer of Gov-
ernmeunt would not encourage an exten-
sive scheme of wall-painting. In the
relatively quiet terminal years of his

reign, Maharaja Marthanda Varma gave
much atbention to details of the rebuild-

ing of the Sri Padmanabhaswami temple
at Trivandrum, bat it 1s not considered
jikely that he would have caused the
Padmanabhapuram murals to be painted
then. Their own evidence is that they
were in a used room, not o vacated one.
That they were painted prior to the reign
of Maharaja Marthanda Varma is not
unlikely, bat in the absence as yet of
direct historical testimony as to their
“date, the most that can be said for them
is that they belong toa period prior to
1750, and are at least two centuries old.
Thisis a short time beside the known
age of Ajanta, but indicates what Ajanta
caunvob, namely, that the art of mura]
painting of remarkable distinction in
composition and colouring was in opera-
tion in Travancore at a time sufficiently
near our own b0 encourage hope of its
renaigsance. That the murals belong
t0 a school of art of wide extent is seen
In the existence of similar, though
slightly modified, paintings from Suchin-
dram in the south to Trichur in Cochin
State in the north. Good copies of the
Padmanabhapuram Palace murals have
been hung in the Sri Chitralayam in
Trivandrum, for all to see.

Harihara—another Padmanabhapuram Mursl,



8 TRAVANCORE INFORMATION (FEBRUARY”

P

A View of Padmanabhapuram Palace, Dr. Cousins may be sean in the cent of

the group in the foraground,

Treasures of Wood=carving

The art of ‘wood-carving, native to a
1and of forests that produce numerous
¢gimbers suitable for building and decora-
tion, is well represemted in the main
Palace of Padmanabbapuram, the mos$
complete single example of this being
the superb central pillar and the richly
carved beams that it supports in the

room in which the Dnrga celebra- -

tion is held arnuelly. Butin 1937, two
years after the revival of interest in the
Palace, during a visit of Their
Highnesses, an exhangtive inspection of
the Palace compound and its constitn-
ents, led to the realization of & treasure

of wood-carving in & tripartite building:
in & small componnd outside the Palace ’

wall by the side of a bathing-tank, The

are now ca.llgd. is built entirely of wood.

-~

- - - “J . .
Nerapura, a8 the three small buildings The olock tower att Padmanabhapuram. one of the, -

oldeat in India,
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It may be surmised that the present tiled
roofs do not do justice to the mind that
controlled the creation of a work of

beautiful arb, and certainly ocarried” out,

the roofing otherwise than it now
appears. ~ But under the roofs, with the
home-like atmosphere that the buildings
convey, & marvellouns collection of wood-
carvings was discovered just in time to
rescine them from borer beebles that
fortunately preferred Hat wooden surfa-
ces for their homos to carved ones, and
from the neglect that human ignorance
of urtigtic vatlues had allowed one of the
mosh precious creations of beauty ard
skill to suffer. Magter craftsmen had
obvipusly let themselves go in patting
their best craft iv design apd cufting
into the production of a& three-in-one
work of art within the limits of motifs
from nature—fiowers, shells, birds,
lizards—worked into the lintels and
jambs of door-posts, the stems and
capitals of pillars, and all manner of
adornments on walls and ceilings.

The presence of 8o lovely an achieve-
ment of the carver’s art is explained
(whetber before or after the event it is
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impessible gt present to_say) by stories
that differ in detail but mutually indi-
cate that ¢he buildings were created
some distance from the Palace, and
were removed from their original posi-
tion to the present as a penalty on the
owner of the building for a discourtesy
to the Ruler of the time. Who the Buler
was ia not clear, but it is taken that the
building was where it is'in the time of
Maharaja Marthanda Varma, and is,
therefore, at least two centuries old.
Recognition of the unigne importance of
the Nerapura has resulted in carefnl
renovation that has abolished the borer-
beetles and removed their traces and
the aconmulation of eenturies of dust.
Under the latter: timber of fine texture,
has been bared, and the whole will
before long put on the exquisite appea-
rance of its prinse,

The Palace and its artistic accom-
pariments shortly mentioned above,
have been declared a pregerved monu-
ment. A curator and staff are in daily
attendance to show visitors over this
remarkable group of masterpieces of the
past art of the State. DBuses stop at
Thackalei, & mile from the Palace.



